v

NPS Form 10-900

(382 OMB No. 1024-0018

Expires 10-31-87

United States Department of the interior

National Park SQWice _ For NPS use only
National Register of Historic Places received DEC | T 1985
Inventory—Nomination Form date entered

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms DEG ‘ T l%s

. Type all entries—complete applicable sections

1. Name

historic The Star Garags Building

and:or common Poole-Gable Motors

2. Location

street & number 119 S. E. 1lst Avenue —— not for publicatloh
city, town Gainesville ____ vicinity of
state FL code ]2 county Alachua code 001

3. Classification

Category Ownership Status Present Use
___ district _X_ public _X_ occupied ____ agriculture —__ museum
X building(s) ____ private —— unoccupied 2 commercial __ park
__ structure — both ___ work in progress — educational —__ private residence
___site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment ___ religious
— .. object ____in process _X_ yes: restricted —_ government —_ scientific
. being considered -—- Yes: unrestricted __ industrial —__ transportation
___'no — military ____ other: ‘

4. Owner of Property

name City of Gainesville

street & number E. 0. Box 49¢Q :
:

city,town  Gainesville : ___ vicinity of state F1 32605

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. ‘Alachua County Clerk of the Circuit Court

street & number ' Alachua County Courthouse

city, town Gainesville state L 32605

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

tite Survey of the City of Gainesville  has this property been determined eligible? X _yes ___ no

date 1981 —_federal _X state ____county _X  local

depository for survey records ‘Florida Division of Archives, History and Records Management

cny' town Tallahassee state FL




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

—__ excellent __ deteriorated ____unaltered  _X_original site
_X good ___ruins _X__ altered —__moved date
—_ fair — unexposed

De‘scribf V-e present and original (if known) physical appearance

The Star Garage building is a long, one story brick structure with a ridge roof.
A large painted, stucco parapet facade is the dominant feature of the building
as are the small, windows on the sides which are typical of stable structures.

The. Star Garage building is located at the southwest corner of SE lst Avenue
and SE 2nd Street in Gainesville, Florida. To the north of this building is a
large, modern County Judicial Complex and plaza, to the east is a vacant parking
lot with a 1925 Gulf Filling Station Building on the northwest corner, to the
west is a parking lot and a block of several significant old downtown buildings
including the Baird Opera House, and to the south is a vacant lot used for parking.

The building is a large, masonary structure the 1eﬁg£h of the block. The brick
walls are 6/1 common bond. The roof is a ridge with step parapets and large
skylights.

The main (north) facade is stucco over brick, and at present displays a brightly

v painted graphic design. A large square doorway is located in the center flanked

by two large openings with plate glass windows set in aluminum frames. The
parapet on this facade is stepped. There are three windows, which are now covered
and located above the entrance.

The east and west facades are composed of exposed brick walls which were
sand blasted several years ago. The regular fenestration is composed of segmental
arched windows with four light pivot sash. The north two bays and a number of bays
on the south end of each facade aré larger brick openings with 6/6 douple hung sash.
These openings were pr¢bably "¢xpangions of the original smaller windows. There is
a large double door set in a square frame located approximately one-third of the
way from the north end of the east facade.

.
P NI N

The south facade is a simple, brick structure of 6/1 common bond brick. A double
door entry is located at -the center with three covered window openings to the east
and a door opening cut into what was originally a second window opening on the west.

The interior is a large open space with small rooms on either side of the
entrance. W shape metal trusses support the roof which is pierced by skylights.
There is a large frame partition across the interior space dividing the building in
half.

This building was originally built as a livery stable in 1903, immediately
after a fire which destroyed an earlier livery stable building. The facade
originally consisted of three round arch openings. Large 6/6 double hugh sash
windows in segmental frames flanked the doors on each end. The parapet consisted
of a semi-circular arch parapet flanked by two chimneys at the centér with shaped
parapets on either side terminating in chimneys. Above the main entrance were
three window openings with segmental arches and 6/6 double hung sash. The east
and west facades were nearly exactly as they are today. The interior comsisted of
a concrete floor with wood posts supporting a partial second floor and wood
trusses.
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In 1917 the building became an automobile dealership. - A showroom was
partitioned off in the northwest corner of the building. The arched opening
on the west end of the main facade was removed as were its flanking windows and
replaced with a three panel plate glass display window with a multipaned transom.
This window was set in a rectangular frame. The door on the east end was
enclosed with a fixed window set in the arch.

The Star Garage building continued to change throughout its history. Around '
1925, the east doorway was removed and replaced with a rectangular opening as
on the west end of the facade. A large copper trimmed canopy was suspended over
the central, round arched opening. At this point the building still retained the
shaped parapet and the original side wall configuration.

In 1931, a fire which broke out in the south end of the building destroved
the second floor and the roof, and damaged the south wall. The owners renovated
the building by installing a new metal truss system and a new, gable roof with
skylights. The shaped portion of the main facade was removed and the brickwork
was stuccoed and painted. The south wall was reconstructed. The segmental
arches on the second floor windows were flattened. The third round arch doorway
was removed and replaced with a rectangular opening with transom and suspended
canopy. The side wall remain intact and date from 1903 in form and period. The
main facade does retain the 1918 rectangular showroom opening as well as the 1925 .
opening on ‘the east. The triple window arrangement above the central opening
is the original 1903 configuration. The shaped parapet is gone and now is of .
1931 vintage as is most of the south wall.

The Star Garage building is a study in progressive use and adaptation as the
needs of the occupant changed and were modified. Each change is significant in that
it reflects the change uses, primarily from stable to automobile sales and
service center. The need for large display windows were a key part in automobile
marketing and in this case, the west facade window is a reflection of the early
(1918) use. The fire of 1931 severely damaged the building, but it did not damage
the interesting arrangement of the east and west walls nor the original showroom
windows. The essential character of this building is that it reflects in its
architecture the many and varied uses made of it during its lifetime.




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

____prehistoric ___ archeology-prehistoric ____ community planning ____ landscape architecture_ ___ rel'igion

__.1400-1499 ____ archeology-historic —_.._ conservation e law . science

_ . 1500-1599 ___ agriculture .. economics ~— literature — sculpture

___1600-1699 ____ architecture .. education -— military ___ social/ )

——.1700-1799 ____art ..— .. engineering ——_ music humanitarian

___1800-1899 - ___ commerce -___exploration/settiement ____ philosophy —_ theater

X 1900~ .. communications ccme INdustry ___. politics/government X transportation
s iInvention — other, (specity)

Specific dates 19]17-1933 Builder/Architect Not Known

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The Star Garage building is significént as one of the few remaining structures
associated with the early development of automobile sales and service in Gainesville,
which, in the 1920's and 30's, was concentrated in the downtown business district.
Incorporating elements of an earlier livery stable structure, the building reflects
the commercial architecture of its rehabilitation following a fire in 1931 when it
served as one of the city's leading automobile dealerships, and retains its
integrity of location, setting, materials, design, workmanship, and historial
association.

The Star Gatage building began as the Crawford and Davis Livery Stable and
has walls which date to 1903. The Crawford and Davis Livery Stable was first
established on the site in 1889. The company sold horses:and mules which were
shipped into Gainesville by train from Tennessee and Kentucky farms. In 1903,
the company building was expanded to double its original size. The renovated
building was reputed to be one of the largest livery stable buildings in Florida.
On October 14, 1903 very soon after the expansion of the structure, a fire started
in the hayloft. The fire spread so fast that the twenty horses in the stable
were burned and the brick walls collapsed, the building,was a total_ loss. At
the time of the fire, the second floor was in ﬁ§§ §§”g”§gilq§“§hgp, .

By 1904 after completion of its new bﬁiidihg:'the‘éﬁﬁblé was back in operation
selling horses, mules, buggies, wagons, harnesses, whips, and laprobes.3 The
company changed names in 1913, becominf Oliver and Venable LiveryStable, the
only one left in the city at the time.

The rapidly growing popularity of the automobile threatened the existence of B
the horse as a primary means of transportation. The fact that the Oliver and Venable
Livery was the only one in Gainesville in 1913 demonstrates the gradual reduction in
demand for horses. 1In 1917, the Oliver and Venable livery stable was replaced
by the Star Garage, operated by J. R. Fowler.? Fowler had been a lumber mill
operator when he started selling automobiles in 1914. As he expanded, ‘'he required
more space for selling and servicing the automobile. Fowler soon secured the
Studebaker and Cadillac dealerships, and became the central Florida distributor
for Studebaker. Shortly after acquiring the Star Garage in the old livery stable
building, Fowler constructed a showroom in the northwest corner of the building.

He removed one of three arched doorways to install a three panel plate glass window
with a large transom above. The east  arched opening was changed into a plate

glass window at the same time. 6 The Star Garage had a new car showroom, a parts

and repair business, a battery shop, a paint and body shop and a used car operation.’
By 1920, Fowler was the dealer for Buick.8

'




9. Major Bibliographical References

See Attached Sheet

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property __Less than one acre

Quadrangle name Gainesville East, FL Quadrangle scale 1:24,000
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Verbal boundary description and justification

This property iz located in the east half of the tlock bounded on the north by SE lst
Avenue, on the east by SE 2nd Street, on the west by SE lst Street, and on the south
by SE 2nd Avenue.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/titte  Phillip A. Weradli/Diana Primelles

Bureau of Historic Preservation, Division

organization of -Archives, History and Récords Managementdate 12/13/85
street & number he Capitol . telephone  (90%4) 487-2333
city ortown Tallahassee state  FL 32301

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

. Ny
____ nationat ____state “_local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation of 1966 (Pubtic Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the Nat lZal Register and certify t it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the nal Park Servi

State Historic Preservation Officer signature

L
titte State Histeric Preservation Officer / date 12%/85
For NPS use only
the cortll‘y that this property is i in the Natlonal Register ) —
date /OZ ’_'/7"' f)
Koeeper of the National Reg:ster
Attest: date
Chief of Registration

GPO 911309
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Several garages and automobile dealers had opened showrooms in the area south
of the courthouse and around the post office-by 1918. 01d maps indicate the
location of several such operations.9 In 1920, in addition to the Star Garage,
there were at least two other dealers in Gainesville the Ogeltree Motor Company
and the Chandler Motor Car Company.l0 Both were located within two blocks of
the Star Garage. In 1925, the Star was acknowledged locally as the largest
automotive facility in the county.ll By that year, Fowler had again changed the
building by replacing the east archway with a new three panel display window as
on the west side. A suspended canopy was also installed.

In 1925, the Star Garage was still a major automotive dealership and repair
operation. Competition had increased from Gainesville Buick Company, Mark Taylor
Company and the Swartz Motor Company.12 The automotive sales rooms continued to be
concentrated around the southeast quadrant of downtown near the post office. The
Star Garage held itsown in the face of the new and old competitors. The operation
dealt in Buicks as well as used cars. Automobile maintenance and repair was also
a major activity at the Star Garage including major work, gas, oil, and Everready
Batteries.

The operation of the garage changed in 1931 when Fower incorporated his car
dealership as the Fowler Buick Company with his son William Fowler. The new
company still faced competition from Drummond and Willman, Gainesville Chevrolet
Company, Handley Motor Company, Brooking and Turnipseed, and Ogletree Motor Company.l4

The Star Garage also had a paint spraying operation located on the second floor.
Automobiles were given the "Duco" finish, reputed to be the best automobile finish
available at the time. This paint shop was also used to paint airplanes, another
of the rapidly growing transportation activities in the 1920s. On April 9, 1931 a
new airplane was being painted and a spark ignited the banana oil which was being
applied to the wings. The fire reached a can of banana 0il causing an explosion
which destroyed the airplane. Flames spread through the wood rafters and joists in
the ceiling. Within four minutes the entire roof was engulfed in fire, attracting
thousands of spectators. All of the available city fire fighting equipment was
called to the fire. Within an hour of the call the fire was under control,
but it had destroyed the roof and the interior wooden structure, The south
wall was threatened with collapse, but withstood the fire.l

Fowler was back in business within several weeks. He had managed to save
seven new Buick Automobiles while he lost three used cars and a large amount of
material on the second floor. In May, Fowler Buick was in temporary operation in
the 1000 Block of W. University Avenue. The repair and reconstruction of the
fire damaged building began immediately. On August 15, 1931 Fowler Buick reopened
in its newly repaired building amid great expectations from the city's residents and
local businesses. Local merchants and contractors filled a page of advertisements
which congratulated the opening of the newly renovated building. The company
advertised that it had the latest Buick designs on display. The advertisement also
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offered Car Storage facilities in which it advertised as practically fireproof
building. 16

It is possible that the fire heavily damaged the financial position of the
Fowler Company and that the increasing financial instability of the area due to
the depression hurt business. Most likely for these reasons, in early 1933,
Fowler Buick ceased operations after fifteen years in the same location.

The connection of the Star Garage building with the transportation history
of Gainesville did not stop in 1933. Following the demise of the Fowler Company,
the building was taken over by the Florida Motor Lines who operated a union bus
station to serve several buslines including Greyhound. This development was
the result of the growing bus operations which had started in Gainesville in 1925
with the Florida Motor Lines. Improved roads and ever expanding rural areas
fostered the deveélopment of bus transportation, particularly into areas which did
not have railroad passenger.service. Thus, in 1933, the Star Garage became the
hub of busline service in and-out of Gainesville. The building functioned as a
terminal until 1939 when the new terminal was built. ’

The final chapter in the building's history as an automotive dealership
began in 1936. In that year the Brookings Motor Company, which had started
business in the 1920s as a competitor of the Star Garage, moved into the building.19
They shared the building with the bus terminal until 1939. The Brookings Motor
Company was the Plymouth and Dodge dealer. They operated in the building until
1952 when the franchise was transferred to Poole-Gable Motors.20 This company
operated in the building until 1977 when it was acquired by the City of Gainesville.

As Gainesville grew, the automobile dealers gradually abandoned their operations
in downtown in favor of locations several blocks to the north on Main Street and
later even farther out on Main Street and the buildings that housed them were
subsequently demolished. All, that is, except the old Star Garage building, which
remains today in its 1931 configuration, reflecting the period in which the
automobile became firmly established in the transportation economy of Gainesville.
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FOOTNOTES

1. Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Gainesville, Florida. 1897 (Pelham, New
York: Sanborn Map Publishing Company), 1897; "Alachua County, Florida,
Edition", Southern Industry (August 1, 1903, Vol. 3, No. 32, p.l4.

2. Gainesville Daily Sun, October 16, 1903; Florida Times Union, October 16, 1903.

3. Gainesville Daily Sun, April 1, 1904; June 12, 1904.

4. Polk's Gainesville City Directory (New York: Polk Publishing Company, 1913)

5. 1bid., 1917.
6. Early photograph of the building circa 1918.

7. Alachua County News, "Agricultural, Industrial, and Educational Edition",
1924; Gainesville Daily Sun. March 3, 1920

8. Gainesville Daily Sun, March 3, 1920.

9. Sanborn Maps, 1909, 1818, 1923,

10. Gainesville Daily Sun, May 16, 1920; May 22, 1920.

11. Gainesville, Florida in Picture and Prose (np. 1925), p.16

12. Gainesville Daily Sun, January 4, 1925; January 5, 1925; January 7, 1925.

13. 1bid., May 22, 1920

14. 1bid., April 11, 1931; May 2, 1931; May 10, 1931.
15. 1bid., April 10, 1931.

16. 1bid., May 2, 1931; August 15, 1931.

17. 1bid., March 4, 1933.

18. 1lbid., June 17, 1936; September 17, 1939,

19. 1bid., October 19, 1936

20. Gainesville City Directory, 1952.




NPS Form 10-900-a
(3-82)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
inventory—Nomination Form

Continuation sheet S tar Garage Build ing Item number 9

OMB No. 1
Expires

Page 1

024-0018
10-31-87

BIBLIOGRAPHY

"Alachua County, Florida Edition". Southern Industry.
(Ausut 1, 1903). Vol. 3, No. 32, p. 14.

"Agricultural, Industrial, and Educational Edition".
The Alachua County News. 1924

Florida Times Union, Octoberl6, 1903

Gable, E. Personal Collection of 0ld Photographs of the
Crawford and Davis Livery Stable Building. 1906,
1925, 1927, 1931.

Gainesville Daily Sun, Octocber 16, 1903; April 1, 1904;
June 6, 1904; February 7, 1909, March 2, 1920;
July 1, 1927, April 10, 1931, April 18, 1931

Gainesville, Florida in Pictures and Prose. mnp. 1925.

Polk's Gainesville City Directory. New York: Polk
Publishing Comp. 1913, 1917, 1933, 1936, 1952.




D bl Gt
S V’Tf‘eq.‘ gl‘oe&{est arereﬁw?e T

and the comparatxvely shght adgustment of your~ Wi
to the regular care thus bestowed, will ehminate troubl
from your experience. It will keep your' car.in-unif

good condition, and your speedometer will: ‘indicate m 2y :

miles of enJ oyment than by any other method.

. ety , _,',.

BATTE RV

1920



by,
-

O R R R o o S Y YT e P G Py WA

- : SRl
.‘ °

M T

E K ;

; B .

afi ERE isa bxg seven puscnger tounng car of excep-
it txonnl character—the Buxck Model K Forty-ch.

) __4'.4 +

;‘E Iti» an md;ndunl car—one that meeb a mom eucﬁng

I ment than the ordinary typcs in which larger’ curying capuity is/
H Y demanded. el :

For city or country driving this bxz, roomy Bunck fulﬁﬂn !ho de-
mands of cach owner, particularly those wbo desire a family car of
bcau!,y, corafort and economy. . A "

i }
Its popularity in demand nnd seicction conc!unvely’i)mu
choice of the majority of all*such buyers—and each ¢ ;
additional purchasers placing orders for future deliv.
- Prices /. 0. 5. Flint, m.u.;,;; .

Modot K44 = §1896.00 Madel K46 = $303L,00
Mede! Kds - $1506.00 Model Kt = ¢ (206800

. P .
| Prines Roviead Aieil 1, 1920

A T TR TR T T G N I e W

.

K-5-44, sms.uo DELIVERED
K-6-45, $1775.00 DELIVERED
. KO-45, S085.00 DLIVERED

- J'R.FOWLER, Propn’;toxj |
STAR GARAGE

Gainesvillc, - - - - - --' Florida.

4 1 GG L AL S o - HA LT T A AN Y T AT S Y ,}7‘.,,.,.,1,_4,‘:4‘__:'&“:.\

1920



Speczal Saﬁe JoffgsUsed’_,

4 ;
< - i
l
PR

e i ‘ )

'-; . | v
. :

Alg

We how have on diapla’ jh our show room boyﬁfdcopt- ¢,
"imwlly worthwhi!e bargain in used cms, 5’ wwill find

’1

*

‘ cmusr,xmg Lo
L swmmxmq B et |
CHTVROHFTS B A
i?onns SR SERIPRN

'Our ku'ge s!ock of uied cars wm be nushed

1927

\‘\\%

v



.GGIN:I.'”C) 'gda(‘cga

16 |~ ALZEHEmSURTY, FLORIDA, IN PICTURES AND PROSE 143§

STAR GARAGE

ev ent of the automobile and the ex-
cellent means of transit it affords, together with the diver-
sified ways in which it is used, makes it incumbent upon
any community whese desire is to keep pace with the
strides of time to have within its coniines one or more
garages of suitable capacity and equipment to properly
care for this important branch of modern business. A
recognized leader in this line in Central Florida is the Star
Garage of Gainesville, owned by J. R. Fowler. He bas
"been engaged in the automobile business bere since 1914
and at his present location for the past eight years. He is
a dealer in Cadillac and Studebaker Automobiles, carries
a full line of repair parts, accessories, tires, tubes. bat-
teries, etc., and does a general repair and storage business.

BURNETT. THE CLOTHIER

The wide-awake and progressive little city of Gainesville
owes its strong vitality and.great popularity to the enter-
prise and active spirit of its business men and citizens
"who are putting forth practical effort to aid its growth in
every line of industry. Prominent among the number thus
employed is J. F. Burnett, hetter known as Burnett, The
- Clothier, located at 118 E. University Avenue.

Entering the local field about eleven vears ago and car-
rying a complete stock of men’s clothing, furnishings, hats,
caps, etc., and adhering to a policy of fair dealing with all
mankind, the Burnett establishment is known as a leader
in the sale of clothing and furnishings in Alachua county.

This store is filled to overflowing with everything in the
line of stylish clothing and furnishings for men and is

THE STAR GARAGE, GALNESVILLE FLA.

Other departments are Battery Department where bat-
teries are sold, rebuilt, recharged and repaired; Paint, Up-
holstery and Top Shop and used car department. In the
painting department they make a specialty of appiving the
famous “Duco” finish, the most durable as well as the
most beautiful automobile finish known to modemn science.

The Star Garage is located at the corner of Union
Street and Virginia Avenue and contains about ten thou-
sand square feet of floor space. It-is without doubt the
lIargest establishment of its kind in the county and one of
the best equipped in this section. -

Mr. Fowler, the proprietor, is one of the representative
financial citizens of the county and bhas always been com-
mendably active in undertakings for the betterment of the
community. In addition to his grtgr large interests. he is
a stockhoider and a director in Tte First National Bank
the oldest and strongest financial institution in Alachua
county,

E. K. FAGAN, GROCERIES

The grocery store is the housekeeper’s first thought in the
morning and her distress all day if the groceries are de-
livered too late for dinner. E. K. Fagan has been en-
gaged in the grocery business in Gainesville since October
7, 1909, keeps on hand the best groceries that money and
experience can command, delivers all orders promptiy and
enjoys a premium trade among the best families in the
community. He is located at 113 W. University Avenue.
His stock has been selected with great care and good judg-
ment and comprises all that is standard in pure food
groceries, fancy table delicacies, fruits and produce.

Mr. Fagan is one of the best known and most high-
ly respectad citizens of the community and has always as-
sisted in movements that have been launched ifor the
material advancement of Gainesville and Alachua county.

\,

especially popular among those who demand the best goods
in the above line at economical prices. Mr. Burnett car-
ries some of the highes. grade lines on the American mar-
ket today, among them being the famous Hart, Schaffner
& Marx; Curlee and Kirschbaum clothing and the Globe
line of tailoring. In point of physical equipment as well
as high quality of stock and efficient service to patrons.
this store has no superior in Central Florida. The career
of the house has.been progressive and it has steadily in-
creased in popular favor from the. very outset. Mr. Bur-
nett is a gentleman of the highest integrity and business
ability and has always given freely of his time and sub-
stance in helping in the onward march of progress oi the
county.

-

THE BLOODWORTH CO.

An instance of what fair dealing and progressive business
spirit can achieve is shown in the business that has been
built up by The Bloodworth Company, located at 113 East
Main Street South. They are dealers in typewriters, type-
writer ribbons, office supplies, stationery, etc., also rebuild,

repair and rent typewriters at reasonable rates and print
form letters, letter heads, business cards, envelopes and

statements at lower rates than the average printing estab-
lishment. This business was founded about three years

" ago and has since developed into the foremost concern of

its kind in Central Florida. This is the only house of its
kind in the city and is under the capable management of
D. U. Bloodworth. He is 2 young man of good business
qualifications, one of the real live wires in the town's
commercial circles. and has many friends in this com-
munity.
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